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I. Argument 

 The Edgeworths sued Simon for conversion, case no. A-18-767242-C.  This 

Court dismissed the conversion case pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) as a matter of law.  

Simon moved for fees because the conversion case was not well-grounded in fact 

and was not warranted by existing law. 

The focus of the subject motion is on the conversion case: whether the 

conversion case was filed on reasonable grounds; whether the conversion case was 

warranted under the law; and, whether counsel made a “reasonable and competent 

inquiry” into the facts and law prior to filing the conversion complaint, and then 

pursuing the conversion case after facts and law were made known to counsel.1 

 The Edgeworths opposed the subject motion by making personal attacks 

against Mr. Simon.  Argumentum Ad Hominem attacks - that is, name calling - is a 

deceptive argument tactic.  Name calling is a sign of a flawed argument. 

The flaws in the Edgeworths’ position is also exposed by what the 

opposition did not address.  The Edgeworths did not oppose the substance of the 

motion2.  The Edgeworths did not provide the Court with facts which made filing 

or pursuit of the conversion case reasonable.  The Edgeworths did not provide the 

Court with legal authority under which the filing and pursuit of the conversion case 

                         

1 See, e.g., Bergman v. Boyce, 856 P.2d 560 (Nev. 1993). 
2 The Edgeworths argue that NRS 18.015 does not contemplate an award of fees,    
  however, Simon did not ask for fees pursuant to NRS 18.015. 
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was warranted.  The Edgeworths did not provide the Court with a description of an 

inquiry into the basis of the conversion case.  Lastly, the Edgeworths did not 

contradict any of the applicable law set forth in the motion for fees or the earlier 

motions to dismiss.3 

Instead, the Edgeworths opposed the motion for fees by making an 

unsupported statement of personal belief: 

“PLAINTIFFS strenuously object to any such characterization or 
representation, as it is unfounded in fact and law.” 
 

(Opp., at 11:10-11.)  The strength of the Edgeworths’ subjective belief is 

meaningless.  What matters is the basis for filing and then maintaining the 

conversion case.  On what matters, the Edgeworths fall short.  The Edgeworths 

have not provided this Court with any objective support for its subjective belief. 

 The Court’s analysis of a motion seeking fees for filing and pursuing a 

frivolous complaint is an objective review of the facts and law of the conversion 

case.  Thus, the Court’s analysis must focus on such things as: 

• That Plaintiffs cannot sue for conversion when no money was converted. 

• That Plaintiffs cannot sue for conversion when Plaintiffs share control of the 

money under an agreement of the Parties.   

                         

3 But see, fn. 2.   

AA02432



 

-4- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

• That Plaintiffs cannot sue for conversion when Plaintiffs receive the benefit 

of all interest from the money (including interest earned off funds due Simon 

for costs and fees). 

• That Plaintiffs cannot sue for conversion when using an attorney’s lien is 

permitted by statute.  

• That Plaintiffs cannot sue for conversion, when an attorney is due money for 

advanced costs and fees secured by an attorney lien, only the amount is 

disputed. 

• That Plaintiffs cannot sue for conversion when filing an attorney lien is not 

conversion as a matter of law.   

In the motions to dismiss, Simon described in detail the law of conversion and why 

a conversion did not occur when Simon acted in strict accordance with the lien 

statute and with the safekeeping property ethical rule, NRPC 1.15 - including an 

opinion from former Bar Counsel David Clark (an opinion which is not challenged 

by the Edgeworths).  As a matter of law, an attorney cannot be sued for conversion 

by a client in a fee dispute when the attorney has complied with Nevada statute and 

the safekeeping property rule.  The Edgeworths have yet to provide a case where 

such a claim was recognized, let alone succeeded.  The Edgeworths have yet to 

provide a statute or rule of law which supports the conversion case.   
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Antagonism between the Parties and name calling are not grounds to pursue 

a conversion case against a lawyer who uses an attorney’s lien.  An objective 

analysis by the Court of the facts and law of the conversion case necessarily leads 

to the conclusion that filing and pursuit of the conversion case was frivolous, and 

that Simon is due his fees and costs incurred in defense of the conversion case. 

 A.  Groundless litigation must be sanctioned. 

 The Court protects the integrity of the judicial system by shielding limited 

judicial resources against frivolous litigation and by fostering timely and 

inexpensive resolution of claims.4  The Court is provided with substantial tools to 

protect the administration of justice in Nevada.  However, the judicial system will 

only be protected if the Court acts when cases are brought that are not well 

grounded in fact and law. 

 There is a Legislative mandate in Nevada instructing Courts to sanction 

those who threaten the administration of justice by pursuing warrantless cases.  

The Nevada Legislature directs Courts to “liberally construe the provisions of this 

section in favor of awarding costs, expenses and attorney’s fees” in both NRS 

7.085 and 18.010(2)(b). 

                         

4 See, e.g., NRS 7.085. 
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 The Nevada Supreme Court agrees with the Legislature about the need to 

deter groundless cases.  NRCP 11 states that Courts “shall impose” sanctions for 

frivolous litigation. 

  In this case, Simon served an attorney’s lien as permitted by Nevada statute 

law to resolve a dispute over fees and costs owed by the Edgeworths for Simon’s 

work on the Viking sprinkler case.  Under the attorney lien statute, the Edgeworths 

can assert every factual and legal defense available to the fee claim and are given 

an opportunity to be heard and present their side of the dispute. 

 The problem, which led to this motion, arose when the Edgeworths sued 

Simon for conversion.  The Law requires reasonable grounds for filing the 

conversion case.  If reasonable grounds did not exist, then sanctions must follow. 

The Edgeworths filed the conversion case, and continued the case through 

their amended complaint and beyond, on the claim that Simon was due nothing 

from the settlement.5  That claim was factually and legally false.6  Simon was due 

advanced costs and Simon was due fees, even if the amount was in dispute.7  

Counsel for the Edgeworths has repeatedly conceded this point in making 

statements to this Court that this is just a fee dispute. 

                         

5 D&O granting 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss at 6:24-7:19. All the causes of action in  
  the conversion case were based on the Edgeworths’ false claim that no money for  
  costs or fees was owed to Simon. 
6 See, fn. 5. 
7 See, fn. 5. 
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This Court has found, and Edgeworths’ counsel apparently agrees, that there 

was no reasonable basis for filing the conversion case.8  Because the conversion 

case was filed without reasonable grounds, the law requires that the Edgeworths, 

and their attorney, be sanctioned. 

 B. The fees and costs sought are a reasonable sanction amount. 

   The filing and pursuit of the conversion case forced Simon to incur 

significant defense fees and costs.  Simon has built a law practice over many years 

of hard work; the practice continues based on reputation and word of mouth.  

(Simon does not appear on TV or use billboards.)  Besides the obvious threat of a 

conversion case and a prayer for punitive damages, the conversion claim directly 

threatened manifest reputational harm.  When the Edgeworths took the 

unwarranted and unneeded step of filing the conversion case, they triggered a 

necessary and foreseeable robust reaction. 

 All the fees and costs sought are related to the defense of the frivolous 

conversion complaint.  But for the conversion case, Simon could have dealt with 

the fee dispute in house.  But for the conversion case, Simon would not have 

retained former Bar Counsel David Clark to opine on the conversion complaint.  

But for the conversion case, Simon would not have retained Will Kemp to support 

Simon’s fee claim against the groundless claims of wrongful dominion over the 

                         

8 See, fn. 5. 
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settlement funds.  But for the conversion case, Simon would not have retained Pete 

Christiansen to expose the Edgeworths’ false factual claims, nor retain Jim 

Christensen to expose the Edgeworths’ baseless legal claims. 

 In an argument against the amount of fees sought, the Edgeworths observe 

that much of the time spent by Simon counsel was during the evidentiary hearing.  

However, that observation is another flawed argument because the lien issues and 

the facts underlying the conversion case were intertwined. 

 This Court already ruled the conversion case and the lien adjudication were 

related when the Court granted consolidation; and, when the Court decided to rule 

on the motion to dismiss and the motion to adjudicate at the same time - after 

receiving evidence at the evidentiary hearing.9  The Edgeworths did not challenge 

the Court rulings by motion for reconsideration, writ, or in their notice of appeal.  

The Edgeworths cannot contest the Court’s rulings on the close relationship of the 

cases now. 

 Based on this Court’s rulings, the time spent in the evidentiary hearing was 

incurred for the motion to dismiss the conversion case A-18-767242-C; and, to 

adjudicate the attorney lien in A-16-738444.  Based on the Court’s rulings, 

apportionment is not appropriate. 

                         

9 The Court found the facts and circumstances of the motion for adjudication and to  
  dismiss to be closely related.  Exhibit 2 to the Edgeworth Opposition, April 3,  
  2018 transcript at 2:19-24, 15:20-16:2, & 17:20-18:16.   

AA02437



 

-9- 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 C. The Brunzell factors 

 In making its award of fees, the Court must review the amounts sought 

under the Brunzell factors.10  The factors have been heavily briefed already and 

will not be repeated here.   

Retained counsel are highly qualified.  The CVs are attached at Exhibit A 

and B.  The hourly fee sought is reasonable for both. 

The character of the work to be done, and the work actually done, supports 

the fees sought.  The conversion case presented a unique effort to circumvent the 

impact of the Nevada attorney lien statute.  The quality of advocacy was high 

throughout the prolonged pleadings and evidentiary hearing. 

The result of dismissal of the conversion case supports the fees sought.  The 

conversion case presented a clear and present threat of reputational harm to Simon. 

Dismissal of the conversion case as groundless as a matter of law was a major 

victory for Simon. 

D. Costs 

 Simon is also due recoverable costs as requested in A-18-767242-C pursuant 

to NRS 18.020(2) & (3).  The conversion case was dismissed; therefore, Simon is a 

prevailing party for the costs incurred, and is due costs in defense of A-18-767242-

C, without reaching the frivolous nature of the conversion case.  

                         

10 Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 455 P.2d 31 (Nev. 1969). 
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II. Conclusion 

 There were no reasonable grounds for filing, and then maintaining, the 

conversion case.  The Edgeworths have had several chances to explain why the 

conversion case was warranted but have not done so. 

 The Nevada Legislature and the Supreme Court have told Courts to sanction 

those who file and pursue baseless litigation.  This is such a case. 

 Dated this 8th  day of January 2019.  
         /s/ James R. Christensen 
 JAMES CHRISTENSEN, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 003861 
   601 S. 6th Street 
   Las Vegas, NV 89101 
  Phone: (702) 272-0406 
  Facsimile: (702) 272-0415 
  Email: jim@christensenlaw.com 

  Attorney for Daniel Simon 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I CERTIFY SERVICE of the foregoing REPLY IN SUPPORT OF 

MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS was made by electronic service 

(via Odyssey) this 8th  day of January, 2019, to all parties currently shown on the 

Court’s E-Service List. 

       /s/ Dawn Christensen     
an employee of  
JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN, ESQ.  
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Peter	S.	Christiansen,	Esq.		
Christiansen	Law	Offices,	Trial	Attorneys	
810	S.	Casino	Center	Boulevard,	Suite	104	

Las	Vegas,	NV	89101	
Phone:	(702)	240-7979	
Fax:	(866)	412-6992	

Email:		pete@christiansenlaw.com	
Web:		www.christiansenlaw.com 

 
Peter	S.	Christiansen	is	the	founding	partner	and	lead	trial	attorney	at	Christiansen	
Law	Offices,	a	boutique	firm	focused	exclusively	on	trying	catastrophic	personal	
injury	cases	and	criminal	matters,	as	well	as	fraud	and	business	related	disputes.		A	
testament	to	Mr.	Christiansen’s	advocacy	skills,	he	is	among	the	youngest	attorneys	
ever	to	be	inducted	into	the	American	College	of	Trial	Lawyers	(“ACTL”),	which	is	
widely	recognized	as	the	preeminent	organization	of	trial	lawyers	in	North	America.		
The	mission	of	the	ACTL	is	to	maintain	and	improve	standards	of	trial	practice,	
professionalism,	ethics	and	the	administration	of	justice.	
		
Bar	Admissions:	
	

Nevada,	1994		
U.S.	Court	of	Appeals,	9th	Circuit,	1994		
U.S.	District	Court	for	the	District	of	Nevada,	1994	

	
Education:		
	

University	of	Wyoming,	College	of	Law,	Laramie,	Wyoming,	1994	
J.D.	
Honors:	With	Honors	
Honors:	Order	of	the	Coif	
	
University	of	California	at	San	Diego,	La	Jolla,	CA,	1991,	B.A.	
Major:		Political	Science		

	
Representative	Cases/Clients:	
	

State	v.	Maurice	Sims	
Defense	in	state	prosecution	of	defendant	accused	of	two	counts	of	murder,	one	
count	of	attempted	murder	and	multiple	counts	of	conspiracy,	robbery	and	burglary	
with	use	of	a	firearm.		During	the	first	trial,	in	which	the	State	sought	the	death	
penalty,	the	jury	hung	on	all	murder	and	attempted	murder	counts	resulting	in	a	
mistrial	and	the	State	choosing	to	not	pursue	the	death	penalty	but	opting	to	try	the	
defendant	a	second	time.		In	the	re-trial,	the	jury	acquitted	the	defendant	on	all	but	
one	count	of	burglary,	resulting	in	the	first	acquittal	of	a	capital	defendant	in	State	
history.	
	
United	States	Anti-Doping	Agency	v.	Jon	Jones	
Defense	of	UFC	Fighter	Jon	Jones	for	alleged	second	violation	of	the	UFC	Anti-Doping	
Policy.		After	counsel’s	presentation	of	facts	and	witnesses,	an	independent	
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arbitrator	sanctioned	Jones	just	fifteen	months	for	his	second	violation,	substantially	
reducing	the	thirty	month	sanction	initially	imposed	pre-hearing.		The	reduction	of	
the	sentence	by	half	was	based	upon	the	circumstances	of	the	case	and	reduced	
degree	of	fault	demonstrated	during	the	hearing.	
	
	
Khiabani	v.	Motor	Coach	Industries	et	al.,	
Wrongful	death	action	involving	allegations	of	negligence	against	multiple	
defendants	and	strict	products	liability	against	bus	manufacturer	resulting	in	pre-
trial	settlement	of	all	negligence	claims	and	jury	verdict	in	favor	of	plaintiffs	and	
awarding	in	excess	of	$18.7	million	against	bus		manfucturer.	
	
United	States	of	America	v.	Noel	Gage	
Defense	in	federal	prosecution	of	local	attorney	alleging	complex	conspiracy	
between	Gage	and	local	surgeons.			
Discovery	intensive	case	which	included	over	200,000	documents	produced	by	the	
Government.	
	
Jackie	Templeton	v.	EPMG	
Prosecution	of	medical	malpractice	case	brought	by	decedent’s	widow	for	failure	to	
diagnose	cancer.		Jury	verdict	returned	for	$18	million	resulting	in	judgment	of	over	
$24	million.	

	
Marsha	R.	Gray,	et	al.	v.	Wyeth	Pharmaceuticals,	Inc.,	et	al.	
Lead	co-counsel	in	Mass	Tort	action	regarding	hormone	replacement	therapy	
(“HRT”)	drugs.	Case	settled	during	trial	which	lead	to	the	settlement	of	the	last	96	
HRT	cases	in	the	U.S.		
	
Dirk	Eldredge	v.	Granite	Construction	
Prosecution	of	personal	injury	action	stemming	from	on-the-job	incident.		Jury	
verdict	returned	and	judgment	entered	for	in	excess	of	$9	million.		Case	settled	for	
confidential	amount	during	appeal.	
	
United	States	of	America	v.	James	Hannigan,	et	al.	
State	of	Nevada	v.	James	Hannigan,	et	al.	
Defense	in	federal	and	state	prosecutions	of	members	of	the	Hells	Angels	Motorcycle	
Club	arising	out	of	incident	at	Harrah’s	Laughlin.		Defendant	faced	multiple	life	
sentences.		Cases	resolved	with	resulting	sentence	of	12	months.	
Discovery	intensive	case	where	government	produced	over	100,000	documents	and	
over	5	thousand	hours	of	surveillance	video	and	audio	recordings.	
	
United	States	of	America	v.	Floyd	Strickland,	et	al.	
Defense	of	federal	prosecution	of	18	members	of	the	Rolling	Sixties	Crips	gang.		
Government	sought	death	penalty.		Succeeded	in	convincing	Government	to	drop	
death	penalty.	
Discovery	intensive	case	where	government	produced	over	70,000	documents	and	
hundreds	of	hours	of	surveillance	video	and	audio	recordings.	
		
United	States	of	America	v.	Gary	Harouff,	et	al.	
Defense	in	federal	white-collar	prosecution	alleging	embezzlement	of	over	$8	
million.		Succeeded	in	convincing	government	to	drop	charges	in	exchange	for	plea	
to	one	count	of	depravation	of	honest	goods	and	services.	The	Court	granted	client	
probation.	
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Mowen	v.	Walgreens	
Slip	and	fall	case.		Jury	award	was	largest	verdict	against	national	drug	store	chain	
and	largest	slip	and	fall	verdict	in	Nevada.	
	
	
State	of	Nevada	v.	Steve	Shaw	
Defense	in	state	prosecution	of	chiropractor	accused	of	murder.		Successfully	
obtained	dismissal	of	murder	charge	and	eventual	plea	agreement	resulting	in	client	
being	afforded	opportunity	to	complete	probation.	
	
University	of	Nevada	Las	Vegas	
Represented	University	in	administrative	proceedings	before	the	Board	of	Regents.		
		

Certifications	and	Appointments:		
	
Clark	County	Indigent	Defense	Panel	Attorney,	1995	-	present		
	
Criminal	Justice	Act	(CJA)	Panel	Attorney,	1999	-	2016		
	
Nevada	Supreme	Court	Rule	250	(Death	Penalty)	Qualified,	1998	-	present		
	
Martindale	-	Hubbell	-	(Peer	Rated	for	High	Professional	Achievement)	
	

Professional	Associations	and	Memberships:		
	
American	College	of	Trial	Lawyers,	Fellow,	2015	-	present	
	
National	Association	of	Criminal	Defense	Lawyers,	1997	-	present		
	
Nevada	Attorneys	for	Criminal	Justice,	1997	-	present		
	
Clark	County	Bar	Association,	1995	-	present	
	
Nevada	Justice	Association,	1994	-	present		
	
American	Bar	Association,	1994	-	present		

	
Law	Related	Education	Positions:		

	
University	of	Nevada	Las	Vegas,	William	S.	Boyd	School	of	Law,	Adjuct	Professor:	
	

• Trial	Advocacy,	Spring	2019	
• Opening	Statements	and	Closing	Arguments,	Spring	2018	
• Opening	Statements	and	Closing	Arguments,	Spring	2017	

		
State	Bar	of	Nevada,	Trial	Academy	Instructor	
	
Nevada	Justice	Association,	Continuing	Legal	Education	Instructor	on	trial	advocacy	
and	related	topics	
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST, 
 
                    Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
LANGE PLUMBING, L.L.C. 
 
                    Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
  CASE NO.:  A-16-738444-C 
 
  DEPT.  X 
 
 
 

 
BEFORE THE HONORABLE TIERRA D. JONES,  

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Tuesday, January 15, 2019 

 

[Case called at 9:44 A.M.] 

THE COURT:  Counsel. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Jim 

Christensen and Mr. Chris Jansen on behalf of Mr. Simon. 

MR. GREENE:  And John Greene for the Edgewood 

Plaintiffs. 

THE COURT:  Good morning.  So, this is on for your motion  

-- for Mr. Simon's motion for attorney's fees and costs.  I've read the 

motion, I've read the opposition, I've read the reply.  Mr. Christensen, 

do you have anything you want to add?  I do have a question. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  I do, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  I was a little -- I was interested in the fact that 

your original motion talks about a lot of reasons.  It lists like three or 

four statutes, as well as the Rule 11 sanctions and all of that.  And then 

it appears in the reply, you kind of deviated to just talking about getting 

attorney's fees based on the conversion claim and not any of the other 

things that were referenced in the original motion. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Your Honor, that was not a conscious 

attempt to limit any of our amounts of recovery in this matter.  That 

was simply done for clarity of argument. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Just making sure.  Because I mean 

that's how I read it so I'm just making sure that we were on the same 

page; that I understood what it was you intended to convey in the 
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reply. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  And, thank you, Your Honor.  Of 

course, any questions just let me know. 

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  We're here on Mr. Simon's motion for 

attorney's fees following the dismissal of the Edgeworth conversion 

complaint against Mr. Simon.  That dismissal was done pursuant to 

12(b)(5) following a five day evidentiary hearing.  The rules on granting 

attorney's fees are fairly straightforward and simple.   

  If a claim or defense is filed or maintained without 

reasonable grounds, then sanctions should issue.  That's found in NRS 

7.085, NRS 18.010(2)(b), NRCP 11, a host of case law, including the 

Boyce case, which we cited to the Court and the very recent Capanna 

vs. Orth case that just came down September -- or December 27th. 

THE COURT:  And have you had an opportunity to review 

that Capanna case, Mr. Greene? 

MR. GREENE:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Because I did, so I just wanted to make 

sure that everybody else had the opportunity. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Another way of stating that rule is, if 

there is no legal basis or factual basis for a claim or defense, then 

sanctions must issue. 

  I'm going to go over a very abbreviated portion of the facts 

that focus in on essentially what occurred between November 29th and 

January 18th. 
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THE COURT:  Of 2017, right? 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  November 29, 2017. 

THE COURT:  To January 18th of '18. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  To January 18th of '18. 

  On November 29, 2017, the Edgeworth's retained Mr. 

Vannah and Mr. Greene.  On November 30th, Mr. Vannah gave notice 

of the hire.  The following day, Mr. Simon filed his attorney lien.  That 

was on December 1, 2017.  On that same day, December 1, 2017, Mr. 

Vannah signed the release with Viking for the settlement of $6 million.  

On December 18th, 2017, the checks -- there were two checks -- were 

picked up by Mr. Simon.  Mr. Simon notified Mr. Greene that same day 

said, hey, the checks are available, let's endorse them, get them into 

the trust accounts so that there's no delay in disbursement of 

undisputed funds.  There was some back and forth.  There was 

confusion about who was in town, who wasn't.  Those checks were not 

immediately endorsed.   

  Fast forward to December 26, 2017, Mr. Vannah sent an 

email in which he said the clients are fearful that Simon will steal the 

money.  And because of that, Mr. Vannah did not want to use Mr. 

Simon's trust account.  On the 27th, I was involved, and I sent a letter 

back, and I said that we should avoid hyperbole and went through the 

history of the claim and then offered to work collaborative with Mr. 

Vannah to resolve this. 

  On the 28th of December of 2017, Mr. Vannah wrote in an 

email that he did not believe Simon would steal money, he was simply 
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relaying his client's statements to me.  Later that day, Mr. Vannah 

proposed, and Mr. Simon and we agreed, to a single purpose trust 

account that has both Simon and Vannah as signators and that the 

Edgeworth's benefit from the interest on all the money in the account, 

including that money that may, at some point, be provided to Mr. 

Simon for fees and advance costs. 

  On January 2nd, 2018, Mr. Simon filed an amended lien.  

On January 4th, 2018, a conversion suit was filed, based upon the 

allegation brought by the Edgeworths that Mr. Simon was stealing their 

money.  On January 8th, 2018, Mr. Vannah, and Mr. Simon, and the 

Edgeworths separately went to the bank, endorsed the checks and all 

$6 million was deposited into the trust -- into the joint trust account.   

So, at that time, January 8th of 2018, there's no doubt there 

was actual notice that the funds were sitting in an account, Mr. Vannah 

was a signatory on the account so the Edgeworths had control of the 

money, all the interest was inuring to their benefit and there was -- 

THE COURT:  The money can only be moved if Simon and 

then Vannah signed off on it, right? 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Just making sure. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Dual signatures are required on that 

account. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  And at that time also, the amended 

lien had been filed.  So, the amount of funds that were in dispute was 
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known and the amount of funds that was not in dispute under the lien 

was known.   

  The following day, the conversion suit was served on my 

office.  I agreed to accept service.  And I reached out and said, you 

know, what's going on here.  They confirmed that although the 

Edgeworths had sued Mr. Simon, Mr. Simon was not fired, at least in 

their view of the facts. 

  On the 18th, after the large item hold was withdrawn, the 

Edgeworths received the undisputed amount of just under $4 million.  

Late January through March there was a motion to dismiss and an 

Anti-SLAPP motion filed.  On March 15, 2018, there was an amended 

complaint filed.  A motion to dismiss and an Anti-SLAPP motion to 

dismiss were filed in response to the amended complaint.  The Anti-

SLAPP motion was eventually dismissed as moot.  The 12(b)(5) motion 

was granted following the evidentiary hearing.  The claims -- the 

conversion claims and the other claims in that conversion case, were 

brought and maintained through that evidentiary hearing and beyond.   

  So, we understand the law, and we understand the facts.  

Sanctions should issue for filing the conversion case and for 

maintaining it, even after they understood money was safe kept in the 

trust account over which they had control.  When there is a dispute 

over fees and costs, Nevada statute says the lawyer may file a lien and 

move for adjudication.  There is no basis to claim conversion when 

Simon followed the lien statute to protect his fee claim and advance 

costs.  And again, that becomes crystal clear when you examine the 
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timing that occurred.  By the time that complaint was served, the 

Edgeworths and their attorneys knew the money was safe kept in the 

trust account. 

  Now, when looking at whether or not there were 

reasonable grounds to bring the suit or to maintain the suit, because 

that's the standard, did you have reasonable grounds to sue.  And the 

law understands that facts change as the case evolves, discovery 

occurs, what have you, so then the law also says, well, we're also going 

to look at whether he had reasonable grounds to maintain a suit.  And 

that concept was really brought to light in the, not only Boyce, but also 

in the Capanna vs. Orth case.  In Capanna vs. Orth,  -- Dr. Capanna's a 

neurosurgeon, he's been a neurosurgeon for many years in this town, 

he operated on Mr. Orth and allegedly operated on the wrong levels in 

his back, causing Mr. Orth a great deal of trouble, subsequent care, 

pain and disability.  During the case, both parties provided experts.  Dr. 

Capanna had an expert saying well, he didn't violate the standard of 

care.   

And the case went to trial with Dr. Capanna defending on 

liability on the medical malpractice claims.  The jury found for Orth.  

Following that case, there was a motion for attorney's fees and costs 

under NRS 18.010(2)(b) by Plaintiff's counsel because Plaintiff's counsel 

said the defense didn't have reasonable grounds to maintain the 

defense that Dr. Capanna acted within the standard of care when he 

operated on the wrong level.  And the court agreed, the district court 

agreed, and awarded sanctions and costs for maintaining that defense.  
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And that was upheld by the supreme court recently on December 27th. 

  So, what we see there is the mandate handed down by the 

legislature and by the supreme court to prevent and deter 

unreasonable litigation.  In this case, sanctions should issue because 

there were no reasonable grounds for filing the conversion case.  In the 

opposition to this motion, the defense spent a great deal of time of 

pointing the finger and name calling and understandably, they attacked 

the fact that Mr. Simon never got a fee agreement with his friends, 

former friends, Brian and Angela Edgeworth.  And that was something 

we never disputed.  There was no fee agreement.  We acknowledge 

that.  That's what led to the dispute. 

  The problem is this.  The Edgeworths were well within their 

rights and had reasonable ground to dispute the amount of fees that 

Mr. Simon was requesting in the lien adjudication.  And they can 

certainly tell their side of the story within the context of that process of 

that case.  When they took the extra step of suing Mr. Simon, in a 

separate case alleging conversion, when they put pen to paper in their 

claims that he's going to steal money, when they ask for punitive 

damages against Mr. Simon, that's when they went too far.  They did 

not have reasonable grounds to sue Mr. Simon for conversion when 

the money is safe kept in a trust account and only the disputed funds 

remain in that account.  The undisputed funds were promptly 

disbursed when the large item hold was removed by the bank.   

  And our legislature clearly says, in NRS 7.085 and 

18.010(2)(b), that when looking at issues like this, the court should 
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liberally grant sanctions to deter unreasonable litigation.   

  Now the defense may argue that the lien was improper.  

They may argue that it was improper because there was no fee 

agreement.  Well, you don't have to have a fee agreement to file a lien 

to get quantum meruit.  Or, in this case, the court found that at least for 

a period of time, there is a contract implied by conduct. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Even so, that doesn't mean you don't 

get anything.  It means you should get whatever fees are found under 

that contract and, of course, you get reimbursement of advanced costs.  

And of course, the lien was proper under the statute.  There is 

absolutely nothing wrong with that.  As this court found, Mr. Simon 

followed that statute to a T.  They may argue that the lien was improper 

maybe an amount.   

That was one of the reasons why Mr. Will Kemp was 

retained.  And Mr. Will Kemp came in, as an outside observer, who has 

immense experience and knowledge in determining the value of 

product liability cases.  And he came in and found what he thought 

would be a reasonable fee, which was, in fact, slightly less than the 

amount of Mr. Simon's claim. 

THE COURT:  But you would agree, Mr. Kemp was retained 

to do the quantum meruit analysis on the motion to adjudicate the lien 

and that was -- well I'll let you answer. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  No, Your Honor, I don't.  And -- 

THE COURT:  So, what is Mr. Kemp's link to the conversion 
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claim or the lawsuit that was filed by the Edgeworths against Danny 

Simon.  What does Will Kemp -- how does Will Kemp -- because when 

Will Kemp testified -- I know we will all never forget those five lovely 

days we all spent together, and I think we went into a day six.  But what 

did Will Kemp testify to in regards to the lawsuit.  Give me Will Kemp's 

connection to and David Clark. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Mr. Kemp had two purposes.  One, 

was obviously, to put a number on the quantum meruit claim.  But the 

second purpose was because there was at least an implied claim, 

they've never come out and expressly said it, but there was an implied 

claim that Mr. Simon's lien was improper because it was overreaching 

or excessive in amount.  And Mr. Kemp said, no, no, no, this is a 

reasonable claim.  And in fact, that's why Mr. Kemp's declaration was 

attached to each of our motions to dismiss under 12(b)(5), to cut off 

that claim.   

So, there is no doubt that Mr. Kemp provided, or that his 

role was in determining the amount of the lien, but that's not the end of 

the story.  He had two roles.  And he had a role in each of the two 

cases, because, as we know, Your Honor consolidated the claims. 

THE COURT:  Right.   

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  And deferred ruling on the 12(b)(5) 

motion, the motions to dismiss, until after evidence was educed at the 

evidentiary hearing -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  -- because the issues were 
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intertwined.  So, as far as apportionment saying well this hour was for 

this case or the second hour was for this case, that really doesn't apply 

because everything that was done applied equally to both cases. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  What about Clark? 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  I was actually surprised at the 

opposition that they raised that.  You know, Mr. David Clark is former 

bar counsel. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  His summary opinion was, it is my 

opinion to a reasonable degree of probability that Mr. Simon's conduct 

is lawful, ethical and does not constitute a breach of contract or 

conversion as those claims are pled in Edgeworth Family Trust, on and 

on, versus Daniel Simon on and on filed January 4, 2018 in the 8th 

Judicial District Court.  So, we didn't call Mr. Clark to testify  at the 

evidentiary hearing.  We certainly submitted his declaration. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  And we felt that his opinions were 

valuable to that proceeding, but Mr. Clark was specifically retained to 

rebut the unreasonable claim that Mr. Simon had committed 

conversion.  So, he is directly, no doubt, related to that conversion 

case. 

  Getting back to what the defense may argue.  The defense 

may argue that evidence of the reasonableness of their claim can be 

seen because the -- they beat the motion to dismiss on Ant-SLAPP 

grounds.  Well as we've seen in Boyce and yet again in Orth, it's the 
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totality of the circumstances that you look at.  At the end of the day, 

was there reasonable grounds.   

The Court has -- the Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly 

said, you know, when you're talking about a motion to dismiss, those 

are specific distinct standards and the court's looking at specific distinct 

items and is maybe not looking at the entire case.  At the end of the 

day, as they found in Orth, and that's a defense that actually went to 

trial and at the end of the trial, the judge said in the order that the 

evidence was overwhelming. 

  So, you look at the totality of the facts and circumstances at 

the end of the day.  And at the end of this day, under your Judge's 

order, there was no basis for any of the claims that were brought 

against Mr. Simon, not just conversion.  In the opposition, the defense 

said that they strenuously believed that they brought their claim in 

good faith.  And again, I talked about how that subjective evidence of 

belief really has to be analyzed for the Court, it needs to be looked at 

objectively.  What facts did they bring their claim on, what case law, 

and they didn't provide any.   

  Getting to the amounts that we requested, we've already 

discussed briefly the experts.  The amount for attorney's fees is 

between Mr. Chris Jansen and myself, my fee -- or the fee claimed for 

my hours was $62,604.48, for Mr. Chris Jansen, it was $199,495 and 

then we have the costs that we requested, 11,498.15 for Will Kemp, 

5,000 even for Mr. Clark and then there were miscellaneous costs that 

were later detailed at 1,936.58.  The total requested is 280,534.21.   
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I would point out that on the costs, we don't need to 

establish that there were no reasonable grounds.  We are the prevailing 

party for purposes of costs only in the conversion case, so therefore, 

the Court can also award expert fees and other costs under that 

provision.  Although you do have to get a money judgment to be a 

prevailing party under the 18, but that's not an issue that's before the 

Court. 

  We went through a very brief Brunzell analysis.  The 

amounts requested are reasonable for the quality of counsel and the 

time spent, which was quite a bit.  And again, the defense may argue 

that most of that time was spent in the evidentiary hearing.  That is 

true, but that argument misses the point, it doesn't go far enough.  The 

fact is, is that this Court consolidated the cases and wanted to hear all 

the evidence educed at the evidentiary hearing before ruling on the 

12(b)(5) motion because those issues were intertwined.   

The Edgeworths had an opportunity to challenge that 

decision of the Court by a motion for reconsideration.  By writ, they 

could have noted that as error in their recently filed notice of appeal.  

They did none of those things.  So, they missed the opportunity to 

challenge that.  So, while technically, it may not be law in the case, it's 

about as good as you can get short of an appellate confirmation of it. 

  Lastly on the costs, they may argue against awarding 

expert's fees in excess of $1,500.  But, of course, that's not a hard rule 

in the statute As we saw in Orth, amounts are routinely awarded above 

1500.  And the quality, experience of Mr. Kemp can't be challenged.  
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He's one of the best trial lawyers in the United States.  And it would be 

hard to challenge Mr. Clark's experience and qualifications for 

rendering opinions on ethical matters and the bounds of proper 

conduct from attorney.  He was with the state bar for 15 years or so and 

bar counsel for about 10. 

  There's one last thing I would like to get to.  The 

Edgeworths are -- I anticipate in argument, that Mr. Simon is driving 

this bus, that they didn't want anything of this to happen and that -- 

THE COURT:  They made that argument in their opposition.  

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  -- and that they are the victims here.  

I'd like to point out a few things.  One, before that conversion complaint 

was filed, I reached out and I said let's resolve this collaboratively, let's 

work together to resolve these issues.  And then when Mr. Vannah 

suggested a separate trust account, we were debating, you know, an 

escrow, we were debating interpleading the funds, and Mr. Vannah 

came up and said, listen, why don't we just open a single purpose trust 

account, and as soon as I saw that email, I responded immediately the 

same day and said that's a great idea, Bob, let's do that.   

I saw that as that we were now on a road to reconciliation, 

that we could get this thing resolved and get it done without too much 

blood.  And I thought we were well on that way when everybody met at 

the bank, the funds were deposited, everything seemed to be going in 

the right direction.  And then a complaint for conversion was served 

and I looked at the date it was filed, and it was filed right around the 

same time that Mr. Vannah had sent a letter to the bank saying, hey, 
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this is what we're going to do.   

When we seemed to be working collaboratively to get this 

thing resolved, they sue Mr. Simon for conversion.  I even called up 

John.  I said, John, you know, do you have a case, do you have 

something to support your position, I'll go on down, I'll have a heart to 

heart meeting with my client, you know, tell me there's something here 

because I could see what was going to happen there.  That was going 

to throw everything off the rails.  And it did.  We got into protracted 

litigation, we got into the very long evidentiary hearing.  And even 

now, they're going to stand up and say we're still the victims, we're 

willing to agree with the Judge's decisions and this and that, and the 

fact remains is that the Edgeworths filed a notice of appeal.  And days 

later, Mr. Simon filed another cross appeal to preserve certain claims.   

But, you know, those are the hard and fast facts.  So, on 

that basis, I submit it and under the law that says the Court has to 

literally grant fees for unreasonable litigation, this case fits, the 

conversion case fits.  They did not have a basis to sue Mr. Simon for 

conversion when the money was sitting in a trust account that they had 

control over.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Mr. Greene. 

MR. GREENE:  Yes, Your Honor.  Thank you so much.  I 

know you've heard so much of this case and I'm sure the end is near 

but let me just -- 

THE COURT:  You guys keep promising me but then I'll get 

my calendar and it's back on. 

AA02461



 

- 16 - 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

MR. GREENE:  One more. 

THE COURT:  Because there's a motion on 2/5, right? 

MR. GREENE:  Yes.  There is one for the release of the 

funds in excess of what you adjudicated -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. GREENE:  -- that Mr. Simon was entitled to receive. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well we'll deal with that.  I haven't 

read any of that.  I just saw that we have another hearing coming up.  I 

haven't read that.  So, we'll deal with that on February 5th. 

MR. GREENE:  I'm not getting in to that, Your Honor. 

  Let me just begin at the beginning.  I'm not going to restate 

everything.  We've heard all of this so many times.  Let me focus on 

what is important from a legal standpoint and a factual standpoint 

concerning this 12(b)(5). 

  First of all, Your Honor, when you issued your two orders, 

the one in October, then the one in November concerning Plaintiff's 

four claims for relief, there wasn't one iota of language that indicated 

that the Edgeworths claims were not based on reasonable grounds.  

You dismissed them, but did not make that finding.  This was a matter 

that wasn't litigated, unlike the Capanna case, it wasn't a subject of 

discovery, unlike the Capanna case.  This was something that you put 

on hold, Your Honor, while we could adjudicate the beast that was in 

this room, which is the attorneys lien and adjudicating that.   

So, again, Your Honor, there's nothing in your orders that 

indicates that the Edgeworth's amended complaint was based on 
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unreasonable grounds.  And you wouldn't have found that because you 

know the law, Your Honor, the supreme court asks us in this room 

when we're looking at a 12(b)(5) motion, to take a look at the 

allegations in the complaint that Plaintiffs have made and accept them 

as true.  And the Edgeworths allege breach of contract, they allege that 

there was an oral agreement at 550 an hour, they dutifully paid 550 an 

hour, as you know, from all those entries that we showed.  They 

dutifully paid 387 plus thousand dollars in fees without any review, 

without any reduction, without any delay, but something happened. 

  On November 17th, at that infamous meeting in Mr. 

Simon's office, these clients went from paying four invoices without 

question, asking for a fifth two days before, willing to pay that and all 

of a sudden that meeting happens.  You heard testimony from the 

Edgeworths on this and something happened in that meeting that 

changed the relationship that eroded the trust that caused the 

Edgeworths to believe that their settlement funds were in jeopardy.  

They still believe that to this day.  They maintained that complaint -- 

that claim, one of the four, for conversion, based on good faith.   

Mr. Simon knew, he is a very good attorney, he knew that 

the law didn't allow him to get a contingency fee here.  You found that.  

He knew that if he can't have a contingency fee, how in the world is 

anybody going to allow him to get a contingency fee in the same 

amount, based on quantum meruit.  That's exactly what he's done 

since day one, despite, if we believe the allegation to be true, like we 

have to, that there was an oral contract for the purposes of this 
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particular hearing here, they maintain that in good faith.  They felt that 

their settlement proceeds were going to be jeopardized and still to this 

day.   

All the amounts of 1.977 million dollars, they're all sitting 

there still.  Two percent interest being earned on them the past year 

and a half'ish -- well not a year and a half, year.  They've lost the 

investment potential, they've lost the ability to  use their money.  

They're willing to pay Danny Simon.  We've sent two letters, we don't 

want to appeal, don't make us appeal, we'll pay, let us resolve this.  

Two letters to Mr. Christiansen.  We have no desire to do any of this 

appeal junk.  We want this thing to end. 

  What this really comes down to, all these fees, Your Honor.  

We sat through all this.  You didn't hear one minute of testimony, five 

day evidentiary hearing, five plus days, that dealt with any 12(b)(5).  

Every bit of Mr. Clark's, Mr. Kemp's testimony, everything that was 

asked dealt with trying to establish what Mr. Simon felt that he was 

entitled to in fees.  There's nothing in the law that allows him to get 

fees in an effort to get fees under NRS 18.105.  You can't do it, there's 

no provision for it.   

Everything that's been submitted here, Your Honor, in 

summary, one, there's nothing that they can point to that can be 

pointed to that Plaintiff's claims were not made to anything other than 

reasonable grounds and in good faith.  We have to take their 

allegations as true.  There are facts that they testified to that said they 

believe that to be true.  So, you didn't find that there were no 
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reasonable grounds.  And finally, all these fees and costs were 

associated with this motion to adjudicate.  We just want this to end, 

Your Honor.  Please [indiscernible] maintain this and let this matter go, 

please.  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Greene.  Do you have any 

response to that, Mr. Christiansen? 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.    

The 12(b) motion did not address the grounds as 

unreasonable because, as Mr. Greene later confirmed, that's not the 

standard to be addressed at that stage of the proceeding.  What the 

Court did find was that there were no grounds in which those claims 

could be brought as a matter of law.  The question of 

unreasonableness, as the supreme court has repeatedly said is 

reserved for this motion.  So, this is the time for that analysis. 

  In making that analysis, one of the things the Court needs 

to look at, was were there any legal grounds for the claim being 

brought and then being maintained.  Yet again, we have not heard a 

single case citation from the Edgeworths that underlies, or rule of law, 

that underlies their claim that an attorney can be sued for conversion 

because the attorney filed a lien and the amount of the fees and costs 

ultimately due that attorney are in dispute.  There is no such case.  If 

there was, they would have brought it up.   

  What we did in the motions to dismiss, is we drilled down 

into the law of conversion.  We brought in cases from every jurisdiction 

that we could find where this has been looked at.  And you can't sue an 
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attorney for filing an attorney lien, for following the law, just because 

you dispute the fee claim, especially when that fee claim is supported, 

as was Mr. Simon's, by unrefuted, uncontested expert testimony. 

  There's two issues on the contingency fee argument.  The 

first issue is, that is an issue that is part of their dispute.  They're saying 

that well, Mr. Simon doesn't get quantum meruit because that's like a 

contingency fee and there wasn't a written agreement.  Fine.  Make that 

argument within the four corners of the adjudication proceeding.  

That's not a basis for suing a lawyer for conversion.  And we provided 

to the Court, which is still unrefuted and unrebutted by the Edgeworths, 

the basis for the amount claimed by Mr. Simon.  It comes right out of 

the third restatement of the law governing lawyers that says under 

quantum meruit, you can ask for market rate.  It's -- right in the 

restatement it says it.   

And, in fact, that's what happens in Nevada after a lawyer is 

terminated on the courthouse steps.  Because at that moment, there is 

no contract because the client killed it.  Does that mean you can't get a 

quantum meruit recovery that is the same as if that contingency fee 

contract still existed.  Of course not.  There's all sorts of cases, starting 

with the Camp case back in California that talks about lawyers getting 

their full contingency when they're fired on the courthouse steps. 

  So, that's not some weird, bizarre concept that obviously 

leads to a conversion case.  It's not.  And they haven't provided any law 

that supports that claim.  Again, you know, we got the subjective belief.  

We strenuously believe.  Okay.  That's good as far as it goes.  But what 
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was your belief based upon.  You have to provide the basis for the 

belief.  These folks sued Mr. Simon for punitive exemplary damages 

alleging that he acted maliciously because he filed a lien to resolve an 

attorney fee dispute.  Because he was sued for punitive damages, Mr. 

Simon was, because he followed the law.  That is, by definition, 

unreasonable.   

  Mr. Greene brought up the argument that fees are not 

contemplated under NRS 18.015.  He's absolutely correct, they're not.  

It's not mentioned in that statute, but we're not requesting fees under 

NRS 18.015.  That's a red herring.  We're requesting fees under 7.085 

and 18.010(2)(b).  Just because 18.015 doesn't have a fee provision in 

it, doesn't mean you can file frivolous litigation.    

I think that's it, Your Honor, unless Your Honor has a 

specific question. 

THE COURT:  I don't have any questions. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  There's a couple other things I want to look at 

before I rule on this.  I'll issue a ruling on Thursday from chambers. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Judge, can I ask the Court to take a 

quick look at your April 3rd, 2018 transcripts at Pages 15, 16 and 17.  

Mr. Greene attached it as Exhibit 2 to his opposition.  That just goes to 

Your Honor's initial finding that all these issues were so intertwined 

you had to do it all at once. 

THE COURT:  Yes.  April 3rd of '18. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  It's Exhibit 2 to Mr. Greene's 
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opposition, Your Honor.  He attached it. 

THE COURT:  I will do that.  Exhibit 2 to the opposition. 

MR. CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  I will issue an order from chambers. 

MR. GREENE:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you. 

[Proceedings concluded at 10:21 a.m.] 
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01/15/2019, 01/17/2019
Decision

 

  

Minutes
01/15/2019 9:30 AM

- APPEARANCES CONTINUED: James Christensen Esq., and Pete
Christiansen Esq., on behalf of Daniel Simon, and John Greene Esq,
of behalf of Edgeworth Family Trust. Following arguments by counsel,
COURT ORDERED, matter CONTINUED for Decision of the date
given. 01/18/19 (CHAMBERS) DECISION: Motion for Attorney Fees
and Costs

 
01/17/2019 3:00 AM

- The Motion for Attorney s Fees is GRANTED in part, DENIED in part.
The Court finds that the claim for conversion was not maintained on
reasonable grounds, as the Court previously found that when the
complaint was filed on January 4, 2018, Mr. Simon was not in
possession of the settlement proceeds as the checks were not
endorsed or deposited in the trust account. (Amended Decision and
Order on Motion to Dismiss NRCP 12(b)(5)). As such, Mr. Simon could
not have converted the Edgeworth s property. Further, the Court finds
that the purpose of the evidentiary hearing was primarily for the Motion
to Adjudicate Lien. It has been argued that the Court s statement of
during the course of that evidentiary hearing, I will also rule on the
Motion to Dismiss at the end of the close of evidence, because I think
that evidence is interrelated (Motion Hearing April 3, 2018, pg. 18)
should be construed to mean that the evidentiary hearing was for the
Motions to Dismiss as well as the Motion to Adjudicate Lien. While the
Court acknowledges said statement, during the same hearing, the
Court also stated So in regards to the Motion to Adjudicate the Lien,
we re going to set an evidentiary hearing to determine what Mr. Simon
s remaining fees are. (Motion Hearing April 3, 2018, pg. 17). During
that same hearing, it was made clear that the primary focus of the
evidentiary hearing was to determine the amount of fees owed to Mr.
Simon. So, the primary purpose of the evidentiary hearing was for the
Motion to Adjudicate Lien. As such, the Motion for Attorney s Fees is
GRANTED under 18.010(2)(b) as to the Conversion claim as it was
not maintained upon reasonable grounds, since it was an impossibility
for Mr. Simon to have converted the Edgeworth s property, at the time
the lawsuit was filed. The Motion for Attorney s Fees is DENIED as it
relates to the other claims. In considering the amount of attorney s
fees and costs, the Court finds that the services of Mr. James
Christensen, Esq. and Mr. Peter Christiansen, Esq. were obtained
after the filing of the lawsuit against Mr. Simon, on January 4, 2018.
However, they were also the attorneys in the evidentiary hearing on
the Motion to Adjudicate Lien, which this Court has found was
primarily for the purpose of adjudicating the lien asserted by Mr.
Simon. Further, the Motion to Consolidate The Court further finds that
the costs of Mr. Will Kemp Esq. were solely for the purpose of the
Motion to Adjudicate Lien filed by Mr. Simon, but the costs of Mr.
David Clark Esq. were solely for the purposes of defending the lawsuit
filed against Mr. Simon by the Edgeworths. As such, the Court has
considered all of the factors pertinent to attorney s fees and attorney s
fees are GRANTED in the amount of $50,000.00 and costs are
GRANTED in the amount of $5,000.00.
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